NO. 31595-9-III

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

DIVISION THREE

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

ENRIQUE HERNANDEZ,

Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE
STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR YAKIMA COUNTY

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

Marla L. Zink
Attorney for Appellant

WASHINGTON APPELLATE PROJECT
1511 Third Avenue, Suite 701
Seattle, Washington 98101
(206) 587-2711

A. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

When calculating Enrique Hernandez's offender score for a felony driving while under the influence offense, the trial court declined to follow the plain language of the statute and this Court's decision in *State v. Morales*, 168 Wn. App. 489, 278 P.3d 668 (2012). The matter should be remanded for resentencing.

Resentencing is also required because the trial court exceeded its statutory authority by imposing a combined term of incarceration and community custody that exceeds the statutory maximum.

B. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. The offender score was not properly calculated.
2. The trial court exceeded its statutory authority in imposing its sentence.

C. ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. Was the offender score miscalculated pursuant to RCW 9.94A.525(2)(e) and (11) and under the body of case law from this Court where qualifying prior offenses support an offender score of five on the DUI count, but the court calculated his offender score as nine plus?

2. The Sentencing Reform Act (SRA) is the sole source of a trial court's sentencing authority for felony offenses. Under RCW 9.94A.701(9) the trial court must reduce the term of community custody where the combined term of community custody and confinement exceed the statutory maximum for an offense. Where the trial court imposed a 57-month sentence for a Class C felony with a 60-month statutory maximum sentence, but also imposed a 12-month term of community custody, must this Court order the trial court to correct the erroneous sentence?

3. As stated, the combined term of community custody and confinement cannot exceed the statutory maximum. The SRA does not contain an exception to this rule for the period for which an ignition interlock device is required. Did the court exceed its authority by imposing a 10-year requirement that Mr. Hernandez drive only with an ignition interlock device?

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Enrique Hernandez was charged with driving under the influence of alcohol or intoxicants (DUI), which was elevated to a felony offense based on Mr. Hernandez's prior felony DUI offense. CP 4. He was also charged with assault in the third degree, for assaulting a

law enforcement officer during investigation of the DUI, and three other charges. CP 4-5.

Prior to trial, Mr. Hernandez asked the court for a declaration of his offender score. CP 6-43. Under RCW 9.94A.525(2)(e) and (11) and *State v. Morales*, 168 Wn. App. 489, 278 P.3d 668 (2012), Mr. Hernandez argued only prior offenses enumerated in RCW 9.94A.525(e) count towards his offender score for the DUI count. He calculated his offender score as a five. CP 8-9. The State opposed the calculation, arguing Mr. Hernandez's offender score on the DUI count was a nine plus—he maxed out. CP 44-50. After a hearing before Judge Susan Hahn, the court determined Mr. Hernandez's offender score on the DUI count was a nine. 3/9/13 RP 21-23.¹

Mr. Hernandez pled guilty to the DUI and assault charges in exchange for the State dismissing the remaining counts. CP 57-65. He explicitly preserved for appeal the calculation of his offender score. CP 59, 64, 72; 4/12/13 RP 5-8. He was sentenced with an offender score

¹ The separately-paginated volumes of the verbatim report of proceedings are referred to by the date of the hearing transcribed, e.g. "3/9/13 RP."

of nine plus on the DUI count and eight on the assault in the third degree. CP 67; *see* 4/12/13 RP 14.² He appeals. CP 75.

E. ARGUMENT

1. The sentence should be remanded because the court miscalculated the offender score.

a. RCW 9.94A.525 dictates the sentencing court's authority in calculating the offender score.

This Court reviews the trial court's calculation of the offender score de novo. *State v. Mutch*, 171 Wn.2d 646, 653, 254 P.3d 803 (2011). The meaning of the Sentencing Reform Act statute is also a question of law reviewed de novo. *State v. Morales*, 168 Wn. App. 489, 492 & n.7, 278 P.3d 668 (2012). Mr. Hernandez objected to the calculation of his offender score, and preserved the issue for appeal when entering his plea. CP 59, 64, 72; 4/12/13 RP 5-8.

In Washington, a sentencing court's calculation of a standard sentence range is determined by the "seriousness" level of the present offense, as well as the court's calculation of the "offender score." RCW 9.94A.530(1). The offender score is determined by the defendant's criminal history, which starts with a list of his prior

² A copy of the judgment and sentence is attached as Appendix A for the Court's convenience; it lists Mr. Hernandez's criminal history at CP 67.

convictions. *See* RCW 9.94A.030(11); RCW 9.94A.525 (2011).³

Which prior convictions are included depends upon the washout provisions of RCW 9.94A.525(2) and the specific provisions in RCW 9.94A.525(3) through (22) that dictate how to calculate (or count) the score from those included prior convictions. RCW 9.94A.525; *State v. Moearn*, 170 Wn.2d 169, 175, 240 P.3d 1158 (2010); *see Morales*, 168 Wn. App. at 492. When a person is sentenced for more than one current offense, the sentence range for each current offense is determined by using all other current convictions as if they were prior convictions for the purpose of the offender score, unless the court finds they encompass the same criminal conduct. RCW 9.94A.525(1), RCW 9.94A.589(1)(a).

b. The court miscalculated the offender score for the DUI count.

The washout provisions of RCW 9.94A.525(2)(e) along with the counting provisions of RCW 9.94A.525(11) govern which prior offenses should be included in Mr. Hernandez's offender score for the DUI count. As stated previously, RCW 9.94A.525(2) sets forth the

³ Amendments to this statute, which became effective on September 18, 2013, were not in effect at the time of Mr. Hernandez's offense in November 2012. *See* Laws of 2013, 2d Spec. Sess., ch. 35. Throughout, this brief relies on the 2011 version of RCW 9.94A.525, a copy of which is attached as Appendix B.

rules for which prior offenses are included and which washout. The subsections of RCW 9.94A.525(2) apply to different crimes or classes of crimes. For example, class A and prior felony sex convictions are governed by RCW 9.94A.525(2)(a), which states that all such prior convictions are included in the offender score. Subsections (c) through (e) apply to class C felonies and serious traffic offenses. The range of prior offenses that could be included in Mr. Hernandez's offender score are limited to class C felonies and serious traffic offenses. *See* CP 58 (guilty plea statement); CP 67 (judgment and sentence).

- i. The statute, legislative history, case law and principles of statutory interpretation dictate that the provisions of RCW 9.94A.525(2)(e) in conjunction with RCW 9.94A.525(11) determine which prior offenses count in Mr. Hernandez's offender score for the DUI count.

Subsection (2)(e) is a specific provision directed at which offenses are to be included when sentencing an individual for felony DUI. RCW 9.94A.525(2)(e); *Morales*, 168 Wn. App. at 499, 500. A reading of subsection (2) makes clear that subsection (2)(e) is the only provision relevant to determining which prior offenses are included on a DUI sentence. Subsection (2) states in relevant part:

(2) . . .

(c) Except as provided in (e) of this subsection, class C prior felony convictions other than sex offenses shall not be included in the offender score if, since the last date of release from confinement (including full-time residential treatment) pursuant to a felony conviction, if any, or entry of judgment and sentence, the offender had spent five consecutive years in the community without committing any crime that subsequently results in a conviction.

(d) Except as provided in (e) of this subsection, serious traffic convictions shall not be included in the offender score if, since the last date of release from confinement (including full-time residential treatment) pursuant to a felony conviction, if any, or entry of judgment and sentence, the offender spent five years in the community without committing any crime that subsequently results in a conviction.

(e) If the present conviction is felony driving while under the influence of intoxicating liquor or any drug (RCW 46.61.502(6)) or felony physical control of a vehicle while under the influence of intoxicating liquor or any drug (RCW 46.61.504(6)), prior convictions of felony driving while under the influence of intoxicating liquor or any drug, felony physical control of a vehicle while under the influence of intoxicating liquor or any drug, and serious traffic offenses shall be included in the offender score if: (i) The prior convictions were committed within five years since the last date of release from confinement (including full-time residential treatment) or entry of judgment and sentence; or (ii) the prior convictions would be considered “prior offenses within ten years” as defined in RCW 46.61.5055.

The provisions relating to class C felonies and serious traffic offenses, subsections (c) and (d), state at the outset that they apply “except” in

those cases which subsection (e) applies. RCW 9.94A.525(2)(c), (d). Subsection (2)(e) applies to the case at bar, a felony DUI conviction. RCW 9.94A.525(2)(e).

This reading of the statute is confirmed by this Court's case law. In *Morales*, Division One held that the washout provisions of subsection (2)(d) are not applicable to a DUI sentence derived under (2)(e). 168 Wn. App. at 499-500. "Because scoring for this case is controlled by subsection (2)(e), subsection (2)(d) is not relevant to scoring for the current crime." *Id.* Thus, where subsection (2)(e) applies, in other words in sentences for DUI convictions, subsections (2)(c) and (d) are not relevant. Division Two of this Court recently adopted this holding in *State v. Jacob*, No. 42914-4-II, ___ Wn. App. ___, 2013 WL 4520879, *3-4 (Aug. 27, 2013).

This reading of the statute also comports with the legislative intent for felony DUI sentencing. The legislature sought to elevate misdemeanor DUI offenses to a felony offense where the individual had previously been convicted of driving under the influence of alcohol or other intoxicants. *See* RCW 46.61.5055(4); Senate Bill Report on H.B. 3317, at 3, 59th Leg., Reg. Sess. (Wash. 2006) (summary of testimony in favor of bill indicates, "This legislation is directed at the

chronic drunk driver” and “deter[ing] a habitual drunk driver.”)⁴ The legislature sought to elevate punishment for repeat offenders within the same class of offense—driving under the influence. Senate Bill Report, at 3. It was not concerned with unrelated class C felony offenses such as theft, burglary, assault or harassment. *See* RCW 46.61.5055; Final Bill Report on H.B. 3317, at 2, 59th Leg., Reg. Sess. (Wash. 2006) (reporting that DUI offender with four prior misdemeanor DUIs would receive presumptive sentence range of 22-29 months, or an offender score of 4 as per RCW 9.94A.510, thus not including unrelated felonies);⁵ House Bill Report on H.B. 3317, at 3, 59th Leg., Reg. Sess. (Wash. 2006) (same);⁶ Senate Bill Report, at 2-3 (same; also reporting only “prior offenses” under DUI laws are counted and washout periods are clarified as applied to DUIs); *see also* RCW 9.94A.010 (3) (sentences are to “[b]e commensurate with the punishment imposed on others committing similar offenses”).

If there is any ambiguity as to whether RCW 9.94A.525(2)(c) and (d) should apply to sentences for DUI convictions, the rule of lenity requires this Court to resolve that ambiguity in favor of the defendant.

⁴ A copy of the Senate Bill Report is attached as Appendix C.

⁵ A copy of the Final Bill Report is attached as Appendix D.

⁶ A copy of the House Bill Report is attached as Appendix E.

State v. Mandanas, 168 Wn.2d 84, 88, 228 P.3d 13 (2010) (“The rule of lenity requires us to interpret an ambiguous criminal statute in favor of the defendant absent legislative intent to the contrary.”).

For all of the above reasons, only those prior convictions that are included under RCW 9.94A.525(2)(e) count towards Mr. Hernandez’s offender score for the DUI count. According to Mr. Hernandez’s prior offense history, only the felony DUI convictions, misdemeanor DUI convictions (as serious traffic offenses), and felony physical control convictions are eligible to be included in the offender score. CP 58, 67; RCW 9.94A.525(2)(e); RCW 9.94A.030(44) (defining serious traffic offense). Thus, the court improperly included convictions for possession of stolen property, attempt to elude, malicious mischief, forgery and robbery. *See* CP 67. The court also improperly included Mr. Hernandez’s other current offense for assault in the third degree because other current offenses must be treated the same as a prior conviction for purposes of calculating the offender score. RCW 9.94A.525(1); RCW 9.94A.589; CP 67; 3/9/13 RP 4-5, 21-23; *State v. Graciano*, 176 Wn.2d 531, 536, 295 P.3d 219 (2013). Prior to applying the washout provisions of RCW 9.94A.525(2)(e), discussed below, Mr. Hernandez’s maximum offenders score is six

(one point each for felony DUI (2009), felony physical control (2003 and 2006), and DUI (2001 and 2007); plus one point for being on community supervision at the time of the instant offense). CP 9, 58, 67; 3/9/13 RP 3-4. But, as set forth below, the 2001 conviction for DUI washes out because it was not committed within 10 years of the instant charge.

- ii. The trial court miscalculated which prior offenses washout under RCW 9.94A.525(2)(e).

Subsection (2)(e) provides that where the current conviction is for DUI, certain “prior convictions of felony driving while under the influence of intoxicating liquor or any drug, felony physical control of a vehicle while under the influence of intoxicating liquor or any drug, and serious traffic offenses shall be included in the offender score.” RCW 9.94A.525(2)(e); *see* RCW 9.94A.030(44) (defining “serious traffic offense”). Such prior convictions may only be included in the offender score if “(i) the prior convictions were committed within five years since the last date of release from confinement (including full-time residential treatment) or entry of judgment and sentence; or (ii) the prior convictions would be considered ‘prior offenses within ten years’ as defined in RCW 46.61.5055.” RCW 9.94A.525(2)(e).

In *State v. Draxinger*, Division Two held that the offender score should be calculated using either (2)(e)(i) or (2)(e)(ii). 148 Wn. App. 533, 537, 200 P.3d 251 (2008), *review denied*, 166 Wn.2d 1013, 210 P.3d 1018 (2009). Subsection (ii) applies only if the defendant has committed qualifying DUI-related offenses within 10 years. *Id.* A felony DUI charge is a qualifying prior offense that elevates DUI to a felony crime. Subsection (i) only applies when (ii) does not—that is, when the defendant has fewer than four prior offenses or no felony DUI within 10 years as defined in RCW 46.61.5055. *Id.* at 537-38.

Here, Mr. Hernandez was arrested on November 18, 2012 for the instant DUI charge. CP 1-4; RCW 46.61.5055(14)(c).⁷ Because Mr. Hernandez meets the criteria of RCW 9.94A.525(e)(ii), subsection (e)(i) is inapplicable. Thus, any qualifying offenses (those set forth in subsection E.1.b.i, *supra*) that occurred prior to November 18, 2002, washout. Mr. Hernandez's 2001 DUI charge cannot be included in his offender score.

As a result, instead of an offender score of nine plus, Mr. Hernandez's offender score as proved by the State is at most a five (felony DUI, 2007 DUI, 2005 physical control, 2002 physical control

⁷ A copy of RCW 46.61.5055 is included herein as Appendix F.

and one point community supervision). *See* CP 58, 67. With an offender score of five, the presumptive sentence range is 33 to 43 months. RCW 9.94A.510 (sentencing grid); RCW 9.94A.515 (seriousness level of V for DUI).

Even if the Court determines subsection (2)(e)(i) applies here, the trial court over-counted Mr. Hernandez's prior offenses. Under subsection (e)(i) only those prior "serious traffic offenses" under RCW 9.94A.030(44) that "were committed within five years since the last date of release from confinement (including full-time residential treatment) or entry of judgment and sentence" shall be included. RCW 9.94A.525(2)(e); *Jacob*, 2013 WL 4520879, at *4. The *Morales* and *Jacob* courts disagreed as to how this provision should be interpreted. Under *Jacob*'s reading, Mr. Hernandez's offender score would remain a five.

In *Jacob*, the Court held that the legislature's use of the word "since" should be interpreted by its plain meaning to washout any specified prior offenses that occurred more than five years *after* another prior conviction or release from confinement on any crime. *Jacob*, 2013 WL 4520879, at *5. Because this reading of subsection (2)(e)(i) adheres most closely to the language of the statute, this Court should

find the same. The DUI conviction from 2001 would not be included because it was committed more than five years “since” his most recent prior conviction, a 1994 juvenile robbery offense. *Jacob*, 2013 WL 4520879, at *5-6. Mr. Hernandez’s offender score accordingly remains a five, yielding a presumptive sentence range of 33 to 43 months. RCW 9.94A.510 (sentencing grid); RCW 9.94A.515 (seriousness level of V for DUI).

On the other hand, the *Morales* Court held that the five year period applied both before and after the offense under consideration. The court reasoned, subsection (e)(i) contains different language from the other washout provisions of subsection (2). 168 Wn. App. at 499. The Legislature’s use of different words in the same statute requires the presumption “that a different meaning was intended to attach to each word.” *Id.* (quoting *Simpson Inv. Co. v. Dep’t of Revenue*, 141 Wn.2d 139, 160, 3 P.3d 741 (2000) (internal quotation omitted)). Thus, unlike subsection (2)(d)’s washout provisions, subsection (2)(e)(i)’s provisions do not mandate the counting of all convictions unless Mr. Hernandez remained “crime free” for a five year period. *Id.* at 499-500. Moreover, the differing language also compels that the prior serious traffic offenses be measured against a single “last date of

release from confinement . . . or judgment and sentence.” *See id.* at 498-99. Such a reading is also in harmony with subsection (2)(e)(ii) which fixes the arrest date for the current offense as the single date upon which the ten year prior offense bar is measured. RCW 9.94A.525(2)(e)(ii); *Morales*, 168 Wn. App. at 497 (rejecting reading of statute which “sets up a conflict between subsections (2)(e)(i) and subsection (2)(e)(ii)” because the Court “will not read a conflict into a statute where there is none”).

Under this reading, there is no five-year gap between any of Mr. Hernandez’s serious traffic offenses, felony DUIs and felony physical control convictions. Accordingly, if the *Morales* court’s reading of subsection (2)(e)(i) applies, Mr. Hernandez’s offender score would be six (one point each for 2009 felony DUI, 2007 DUI, 2005 physical control, 2002 physical control, 2001 DUI and one point for community supervision). Under this reading, his standard sentence range would be 41 to 54 months. RCW 9.94A.510 (sentencing grid); RCW 9.94A.515 (seriousness level of V for DUI).⁸

⁸ The *Jacob* court disagreed with a second aspect of *Morales* and held that the washout provision of subsection (2)(e)(i) looks to *any* crime, not just “the” crimes set forth in subsection (2)(e)—serious traffic offenses, DUIs, etc. *Jacob*, 2013 WL 4520879, at *5-6. Although it would have no effect on his offender score in this case, Mr. Hernandez respectfully disagrees with this aspect

c. The remedy is resentencing.

The remedy for a miscalculated offender score is to remand for resentencing. *State v. Wilson*, 170 Wn.2d 682, 691, 244 P.3d 950 (2010). The court's errors in miscalculating the offender score decrease the presumptive range sentence significantly. The sentence should be remanded.

2. The sentence should be remanded because the term of confinement plus the term of community custody exceed the statutory maximum for assault in the third degree.

A sentencing court only possesses the power to impose sentences provided by law.” *In re Pers. Restraint of Carle*, 93 Wn.2d 31, 33, 604 P.2d 1293 (1980). The statutory maximum for an offense sets the ceiling of punishment that may be imposed. RCW 9A.20.021; *In re Pers. Restraint of Brooks*, 166 Wn.2d 664, 668, 211 P.3d 1023 (2009). This Court reviews de novo whether a sentence is legally erroneous. *Brooks*, 166 Wn.2d at 667.

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