FILED
MAY 23, 2014
Court of Appeals
Division III
State of Washington

NO. 31595-9-III

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION III
OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

V.

ENRIQUE HERNANDEZ,

Appellant.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

David B. Trefry WSBA #16050 Deputy Prosecuting Attorney Attorney for Respondent

JAMES P. HAGARTY Yakima County Prosecuting Attorney 128 N. 2d St. Rm. 329 Yakima, WA 98901-2621

I. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

A. ISSUES PRESENTED BY ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR.

Appellant makes two assignments of error. These can be summarized as follows;

- 1. The offender score was not properly calculated.
- 2. The trial court exceeded its statutory authority in imposing its sentence.

B. ANSWERS TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR.

- 1. The court did err when it calculated the offender score, however Appellant has also miscalculated that score.
- 2. a. The trial court exceeded it authority when it imposed a combined sentence, including community custody which exceeds the maximum sentence.
 - b. The ignition interlock was properly imposed.

II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The substantive and procedural facts have been adequately set forth in appellants brief therefore, pursuant to RAP 10.3(b); the State shall not set forth an additional facts section. The State shall refer to the record as needed.

III. ARGUMENT.

RESPONSE TO ALLEGATION ONE

The actions of the trial court regarding the inclusion of some prior criminal offenses in scoring the sentence range on count 1, Felony Driving Under the Influence of Intoxicating Liquor and/or Drugs was correct, the

court properly included the prior Possession of Stolen Property, Attempt to Elude, Malicious Mischief, Forgery and Second Degree Robbery. CP 67. The action of the trial court was proper; State v. Strauss, 119 Wn.2d 401, 832 P.2d 78 (1992), "A sentencing judge's discretion under the SRA is structured, but not eliminated. See RCW 9.94A.010." The SRA does not limit the prior convictions that count toward the offender score for Felony DUI solely to those offenses included in RCW 9.94A.525(2)(e). State v. Morales, 168 Wn.App. 489, 278 P.3d 668 (2012), is not controlling.

Hernandez's prior convictions were properly included in his offender score because they did not wash out under RCW 9.94A.525(2)(c), that provision requires that these offenses be included in his offender score. RCW 9.94A.525 (11) is the scoring provision for all felony traffic offenses, including felony DUI, and plainly requires that where the present conviction is for a felony traffic offense, each prior adult felony conviction counts as one point:

If the present conviction is for a felony traffic offense count two points for each adult or juvenile prior conviction for Vehicular Homicide or Vehicular Assault; for each felony offense count one point for each adult and ½ point for each juvenile prior conviction; for each serious traffic offense, other than those used for an enhancement pursuant to RCW 46.61.520(2), count one point for each adult and ½ point for each juvenile prior conviction; count one point for each adult and ½ point for each juvenile prior conviction

for operation of a vessel while under the influence of intoxicating liquor or any drug. RCW 9.94A.525(11) (2009) (emphasis added).

Because Hernandez's present conviction for felony DUI is a "felony traffic offense," RCW 9.94A.525(11) directs the court to count each of his prior felony convictions as one point. RCW 9.94A.030(25). Thus, under the plain language of RCW 9.94A.525(11), Hernandez's prior conviction as set forth in his Judgment and Sentence were properly included in his offender score, just as any other adult felony conviction would be.

Former RCW 9.94A.525(2) addresses when certain prior convictions "wash out," or no longer count, in an offender score.

Subsection (2)(a) provides that Class A and sex felonies never wash out.

Subsection (2)(b) provides that Class B felonies other than sex offenses wash out after the offender spends 10 crime-free years in the community.

Subsection (2)(c) and (2)(d) provide that Class C felonies and serious traffic offenses wash out after the offender spends five crime-free years in the community except as provided in subsection (2)(e). Subsection (2)(e) thus operates as an exception to the wash-out provisions of subsections (2)(c) and (2)(d), reviving certain offenses that would otherwise wash out under (2)(c) and (2)(d), but only where the present conviction is for felony DUI or felony physical control:

(e) If the present conviction is felony driving while under the influence of intoxicating liquor or any drug (RCW 46.61.502(6)) or felony physical control of a vehicle while under the influence of intoxicating liquor or any drug (RCW 46.61.504(6)), prior convictions of felony driving while under the influence of intoxicating liquor or any drug, felony physical control of a vehicle while under the influence of intoxicating liquor or any drug, and serious traffic offenses shall be included in the offender score if: (i) The prior convictions were committed within five years since the last date of release from confinement (including full-time residential treatment) or entry of judgment and sentence; or (ii) the prior convictions would be considered "prior offenses within ten years" as defined in RCW 46.61.5055.

Former RCW 9.94A.525(2)(e) (2009) (emphasis added).

By its plain language, this provision addresses only when prior convictions for felony DUI, felony physical control, and serious traffic offenses wash out when the defendant is convicted of felony DUI or felony physical control. It does not address the wash out of felony convictions other than those specified, so it does not govern whether such convictions count or under what circumstances they wash out. In other words, subsection (2)(e) is irrelevant to whether prior convictions count toward the offender score of one convicted of felony DUI.

Morales does not preclude inclusion of felony convictions felony convictions not specified in subsection (2)(e) in a Felony DUI offender score. Hernandez argues that the Court's decision in Morales barred the superior court from including in his offender score any conviction other

than those listed in subsection (2)(e). But <u>Morales</u> does not support that proposition, the issue of whether other felony convictions count in an offender score for felony DUI was not even before the court in <u>Morales</u>.

Morales was convicted of felony DUI. 168 Wn. App. at 491. The trial court calculated an offender score of eight in part by counting four "serious traffic offense" convictions that were more than 10 years old. Id. at 493-94. The State argued that these convictions counted under RCW 9.94A.525(2)(e)(i), which provides that prior convictions for serious traffic offenses are included if "committed within five years since the last date of release from confinement ... or entry of judgment and sentence." Though nine years had passed between Morales's 1992 conviction for physical control of a motor vehicle and his next DUI conviction, the State argued that an intervening misdemeanor assault conviction prevented the earlier serious traffic offenses from washing out under subsection (2)(e)(i). Id. at 496-97.

The Morales court disagreed, holding that "the prior convictions' to which subsection (2)(e)(i) refers are the specific convictions outlined in the immediately preceding provision of the statute." Id. at 497-98. In other words, only convictions for "felony driving while under the influence of intoxicating liquor or any drug, felony physical control of a vehicle while under the influence of intoxicating liquor or any drug and serious traffic offenses" prevent wash out of felony DUI, physical control, and serious

traffic offenses more than ten years old under subsection (2)(e)(i). Since Morales's misdemeanor assault was not one of the listed offenses, it did not prevent the earlier serious traffic offense convictions from washing out. <u>Id.</u>

Nothing in <u>Morales</u> supports the conclusion that, despite the express language of RCW 9.94A.525(11), prior adult felonies should <u>not</u> be counted in the calculation of the offender score for a felony traffic offense.

Any contrary interpretation of Morales is belied by the facts of Morales itself. In addition to the felony DUI, Morales was simultaneously sentenced for the felony offense of attempting to elude a pursuing police vehicle. 168 Wn. App. at 491. The Court stated that, "Subsection (2)(e)(ii) ... requires that his three most recent prior [serious traffic] convictions be included in his offender score. His current conviction of the crime of attempting to elude is scored as 1. Therefore, his correct offender score is 4." 168 Wn. App. at 500-01. Attempting to elude is a felony not listed in subsection (2)(e), so its inclusion in Morales's offender score demonstrates that felonies other than those listed in that subsection do count toward a felony DUI defendant's offender score. By the same token, Hernandez's prior felony convictions were properly included in his offender score.

The trial court reviewed briefing from both the State and the

defendant and closely reviewed Morales. After that review the court

stated;

THE COURT: --.... And so as I did it reading the statutes -- I'm just going to tell you where I'm starting, okay, so you kind of know. As I did it and as I read it, I think you do count the prior criminal history that hasn't washed, and then you look at the other traffic matters the way you did, the ones that count.

RP 03.19.13 pg. 4

..

THE COURT: And I think it should be a 9.

MR. GUZMAN: I agree, Your Honor. I didn't count the community --

THE COURT: But it still maxes at 60, so --

MR. GUZMAN: Right.

THE COURT: And then on the other one, I think I came up with an offender score of 5 putting him on -- I think you may have had a 4, and I ended up with a 5 because he was on supervision.

RP 03.19.13 pg. 4

MR. GUZMAN: I actually had him at a 6 on the Assault III, Your Honor.

THE COURT: You had him on a 6? What was your range?

MR. GUZMAN: Well, I was also including if we included, I guess, the current charge.

THE COURT: I did, too. I did, too.

MR. GUZMAN: So what I had was the --

THE COURT: And you -- did -- and you gave him a point for being on supervision, too?

MR. GUZMAN: That would have put him at a 7 under mine.

THE COURT: I -- yeah, I think it was a 7, and I -- that I thought he was at.

Do you agree with that --

MR. GUZMAN: Yeah.

THE COURT: -- at this point?

MR. GUZMAN: On the Assault III.

THE COURT: Okay. So I'm kind of with you on that.

MR. GUZMAN: Okay.

THE COURT: And I did look at the statutes.

RP 03.19.13 pg. 5

...

MR. NEWHOUSE: And why don't the other felony convictions count when computing his offender score for purposes of the felony DUI.

THE COURT: But I think that we do, don't you?

MR. NEWHOUSE: No, I don't.

THE COURT: Okay. That's where we differ. Okay.

RP 03.19.13 pg. 8

...

THE COURT: Okay. But -- Okay. Well, let -- looking at -- and I just kind of want to hone in on this, because I think I'm with you. I want to make sure that I am.

If you look at RCW 9.94A.525(11), and I think that's kind of where we are -- and I'm looking at the State's brief right now -- "If the present conviction is for a felony traffic offense" -- which we agree the felony DUI is, correct? -- "you count two points for each adult or juvenile prior conviction for Vehicular Homicide or Vehicular Assault," for which he has no -- none.

MR. NEWHOUSE: Mm-hmm.

THE COURT: Semicolon: For each felony offense count one point for each adult and one point for each -- or a half point for each juvenile. And then: For each serious traffic offense, other than those used to enhance, count one point for each of those. So what -- I think what you're saying is you don't count other felonies. You count the current offense of the third degree assault –

MR. NEWHOUSE: Yes.

THE COURT: -- but you don't count other felonies.

MR. NEWHOUSE: You –

THE COURT: But doesn't this language clearly say: For each felony offense count one point

RP 03.19.13 pg. 9-10

THE COURT: But doesn't this language clearly say: For each felony offense count one point?

RP 03.19.13 pg. 11

...

THE COURT: Okay. And (2)(d) says, "Except as provided in (e) of this section" -- "subsection" --

MR. NEWHOUSE: Yes.

THE COURT: -- "serious traffic convictions shall not be included in the offender score if, since the last date of release from confinement, including full-time residential treatment, pursuant to a felony conviction,

if any, or entry of judgment and sentence, the offender spent five" -- isn't that the wash -- just a wash-out provision? That's all that is. RP 03.19.13 pg. 12

...

THE COURT: The case seems to center primarily about the wash-out provisions for non-felony traffic offenses. So I don't know, that's just the way I read it. Keep going.

MR. NEWHOUSE: Your Honor, and, you know, honestly --

THE COURT: And he didn't have -- Morales didn't have the issues we have here. He didn't -- he had a lot of DUIs, but he didn't have --

MR. NEWHOUSE: He didn't.

THE COURT: -- other felonies and so forth.

RP 03.19.13 pg. 13

THE COURT:...And I read the statute, I read the briefs and then I looked at the guidelines. And if you pull out the felony DUI scoring page, it certainly tracks the analysis that the State is putting on this. RP 03.19.13 pg. 21

..

THE COURT: Exactly right. But there is also a caveat, and, you know, it's not a supreme court decision, but it's a guideline to help us as we, you know, fight our way through this forest of legislation that's sometimes very complicated.

But -- and looking at Morales, I really do agree with Mr. Guzman. Morales is not about the situation. And I don't think that this -- I don't think we -- I don't think there is a statutory construction issue here. I think it's really clear. I don't think it's hard to apply, and I totally agree with the State.

So the -- I believe that on the felony DUI, he has an offender score of 9, but that doesn't count the second degree robbery. Because you think it's dismissed, but it may still be there. And if it does, then he has a 10. He maxes out at 8 anyway, but that could affect -- certainly could and I suspect would affect the sentence on the third degree assault.

So for purposes of the ruling today, I would say that on the felony DUI he has a 9, on the third degree assault, he has a 7. But that assumes that there is no second degree robbery conviction. And if there is and it hasn't washed, which I don't think it has, then he will have a 10 and an 8 respectively.

PR 03.19.13 pg. 22

Division Two's decision in <u>State v. Jacob</u>, 176 Wn. App. 351, 308 P.3d 800 (2013), does not dictate a different result. In <u>Jacob</u>, the court considered whether the superior court erred in including a 1993 drug conviction and a 1989 DUI in calculating his felony DUI offender score.

<u>Id.</u> at 357. With respect to the drug conviction, the court cited only to <u>Morales</u> for the proposition that subsection (2)(e)(i) limits the offenses that can be included in a felony DUI offender score to those specified in subsection (2)(e). <u>Id.</u> at 360. <u>Jacob</u> did not address the application of RCW 9.94A.525(11) and overlooked the fact that the <u>Morales</u> court itself affirmed the inclusion of an offense not specified in subsection (2)(e) in Morales's offender score.

Furthermore, related statutory provisions must be read together to achieve a harmonious result. State v. Chapman, 140 Wn.2d 436, 448, 998 P.2d 282 (2000). To interpret subsection (2)(e) as limiting the offenses that can be counted in a felony DUI offender score to those specified in that section creates an irreconcilable conflict between that provision and subsection (2)(a), which directs that "Class A and sex prior felony convictions shall always be included in the offender score." Former RCW 9.94A.525(2)(a). If for example Hernandez's Second Degree had instead been First Degree, a class A felony, RCW 9A.56.200, Under subsection (2)(a), they would always count in his offender score. But under this

Court's interpretation of subsection (2)(e), they could not. Interpreting these provisions according to the State's straightforward analysis outlined above avoids this irreconcilable conflict.

It is the State's position that to limit the use of former RCW 9.94A.525(2)(e) (2009) to the type of prior felony convictions that can be used to calculate the offender score of one convicted of Felony DUI/Physical Control would be erroneous. Such an erroneous conclusion would conflict with the Washington State Supreme Court's decision in State v. Moeurn, 170 Wn.2d 169, 175, 240 P.3d 1158 (2010)

In <u>Moeurn</u>, the Court held that RCW 9.94A.525 sets out a three-step process for calculating offender scores for sentencing purposes. 170 Wn.2d at 175. The first step is to identify "<u>all</u> prior convictions" using the statutory definition of "prior conviction" contained in former RCW 9.94A.525(1). Moeurn, 170 Wn.2d at 175 (emphasis added). The second step is to sift through the prior convictions to eliminate those that wash out under subsection (2) of the statute. Moeurn, 170 Wn.2d at 175. The third step is to "count" the remaining convictions according to the specific rules set out in the rest of the section. <u>Id.</u>

_

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